# Effect of Platelet Rich Plasma Lysate and Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 on Sperm Motility in Stallions

by

Fabio Luis Valerio Pinaffi

#### A thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

Auburn, Alabama August 8, 2020

Platelet rich plasma, platelet rich lysate, semen extender, sperm motility, head-to-head attachment, growth factors

Copyright 2020 by Fabio Luis Valerio Pinaffi

Approved by

Aime Kirin Johnson, Chair, Associate Professor, Department of Clinical Sciences Lindsey Boone, Assistant Professor, Department of Clinical Sciences Robyn Wilborn, Associate Professor, Department of Clinical Sciences

#### Abstract

Semen extenders are continually tested to improve sperm motility, longevity, and, consequently, improve fertility. Growth factors (GFs) modulate cell function, which could be advantageous to sperm by improving motility. In humans and mice, fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) improved sperm motility. Platelet rich plasma (PRP), which is rich in growth factors (GFs) including FGF2, reduced post-mating inflammatory response within the uterus when infused 24 hours before or after artificial insemination. Effect of PRP on sperm has not been determined. In this study, PRP lysate was used instead of PRP since it is more purified and highly concentrated in GFs. The objective was to evaluate the effect of adding either pooled PRP lysate (PRPL) or recombinant equine FGF2 (reFGF2) at varying concentrations to sperm extended in commercial semen extender (INRA 96) in the stallion. Eight aliquots were tested using concentrations of 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL containing 1 IU/ml of heparin, and 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/ml of reFGF2 and compared to control groups with and without 1 IU/ml of heparin. Heparin use was based on a pilot study to prevent gel formation from PRPL reaction with semen extender, precluding motility analysis. Motility parameters were evaluated with samples standardized to 50 million sperm/ml using computer assisted semen analysis (CASA) at hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 after treatment. For both PRPL and reFGF2 treatments, there were no differences (p = 0.99) in motility among groups at any time point, with ranges from 60 to 66% at hour 0 and 46 to 49% at hour 24. Interestingly, results revealed that concentrations of PRPL > 5% induced sperm agglutination via head-to-head attachment (HHA), starting at hour 1, whereas PRPL at concentrations below 2.5% did not induce HHA nor affect sperm motility. In addition, HHA was objectively detected by decreases in total number of cells counted per field (total cells) and estimated concentration measured by CASA, assuming that only free sperm were counted, whereas sperm entrapped by HHA were not counted by CASA. Decreases in total sperm number and concentration were different (p < 0.0001) for 5 and 10% PRP groups, being more pronounced for 10% PRPL group, suggesting a dose-dependent characteristic of HHA induced by PRPL. One important finding was that PRPL induced HHA but did not kill sperm. Although no motility improvement was observed, results suggests that direct addition of PRPL in semen extender at doses below 5% could be used without substantially affecting sperm motility. However, further research on uterine inflammatory response is needed to test whether this would have a beneficial effect in the endometrium.

## **Table of Contents**

At	Abstract 1				
1.	1. Introduction				
2.	Lite	erature review			
	3.	Cool shipped semen 10			
	3.1.	Platelet rich plasma and platelet lysate 14			
	3.2.	Uterine inflammatory response modulation post-mating 17			
	3.3.	Heparin effect on semen			
	3.4.	Fibroblast growth factor 2 effect on semen			
4.	Obj	ectives			
5.	Hyp	pothesis			
6. Design, Methods, and Analysis					
	6.1.	Animals			
	6.2.	Semen Collection			
	6.3.	Trials with platelet rich plasma and heparin			
	6.4.	Preparation of PRPL			
	6.5.	Recombinant FGF2			
	6.6.	Sample Preparation			
	6.7.	Semen Analysis			
	6.8.	Data Analysis			
7. Results					
	7.1.	Heparin effect on semen			
	7.2.	Platelet rich plasma lysate (PRPL)			
	7.3.	Fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2)			
8.	Dis	cussion			
9.	9. Conclusion				
10	10. References				

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Illustration of preparation of the ejaculate prior to treatments	29 30			
Figure 3. TOTCELLS and CONC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in a control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant differences (P < 0.05) were noted among groups, time, and interaction between groups and time. Groups 5% and 10% PRPL had a gradual decrease from hour 0 to 24. Group differences within a time point are represented by lowercase letters (a, b, and c). Groups with statistically similar values at a specific time point are grouped by a square and represented by a lowercase letter (a, b, and c).	34			
Figure 4. TMOT and PMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the				
control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted represented by a gradual decrease in all groups from hours 0 to 1.5 when groups were combined. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for group combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (*)	l, os or			
Figure 5 DCL DAP, VCL VAP ALH and AOC obtained by CASA during hours 0.05.1.1.4	5			
6. and 24 in the control group and with 0. 1. 2.5. 5. and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of	ς,			
heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time				
(P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease from hours 0 to 1 followed by a				
gradual increase until hour 24 when groups were combined. Significant (P < $0.05$ ) time				
changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle The first significant ( $P < 0.05$ ) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an astorial: (*)	». 20			
Figure 6 DSL and VSL obtained by CASA during hours 0 0.5 1 1.5 6 and 24 in the control				
group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease from hours 0 to 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease until hour 24. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (*) 4	1 r 40			
Figure 7. BCF, STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time ( $P < 0.05$ ) was noted, represented by an increase from hour 0 to 0.5, a decrease from hours 0.5 and 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease until hour 24 when groups were combined. Significant ( $P < 0.05$ ) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant ( $P < 0.05$ ) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (*)	13			
Figure 8. TOTCELL and CONC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. No significant	; t			

difference (P < 0.05) was noted among groups, time, or interaction between groups and

- Figure 12. BCF, STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, observed by a decrease starting at hour 0.5 for the variables, BCF, STR, and LIN, at hour 1 for the variable WOB, and at hour 1.5 for the variable SLOWMOT. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*). ...... 54

### List of abbreviations

PRP	Platelet rich plasma
PRPL	Platelet rich plasma lysate
FGF2	Fibroblast growth factor 2
GF	Growth factor
ННА	Head-to-head attachment
TOTCELLS	Total number of cells counted
CONC	Concentration
ТМОТ	Total motility
РМОТ	Progressive motility
DCL	Distance curved line
DAP	Distance average path
VCL	Velocity curved line
VAP	Average path
ALH	Amplitude of lateral head displacement
AOC	Average orientation change
DSL	Distance straight line
VSL	Velocity straight line
BCF	Beat cross frequency
STR	Straightness
WOB	Wobble
LIN	Linearity
SLOWMOT	Slow motility

#### 1. Introduction

Assisted reproduction techniques in horses aim to disseminate an animal's genetics by improving methods of breeding, sperm survival, fertilization of the oocyte, and implantation of the embryo. An example of a commonly used assisted reproduction technique is artificial insemination (AI), which allows allocation of sperm into several breeding doses and provision of appropriate nutrients and/or stimulatory proteins that support sperm cells outside the uterus during shipment and/or storage. Breeding success is influenced by many factors, including semen quality, which can be influenced by extender composition, and the mare's response to the semen post-breeding. Therefore, new clinically useful approaches to improving semen quality and reducing post-mating endometritis of fresh or cooled transported semen are needed.

Sperm motility and viability can be improved by the composition of semen extender. Uterine inflammatory response can be reduced by decreasing contamination and supporting uterine clearance, achieved through intra-uterine antibiotic infusion, uterine lavage, ecbolic agents, and anti-inflammatory compounds. Therefore, new techniques to improve semen quality in adjunction to the control of post-breeding uterine inflammation would have a good value for conception rates, especially in mares susceptible to endometritis.

Recently, a blood-derived biologic compound named platelet rich plasma (PRP), proved useful in reducing post-breeding endometritis (1, 2). Uterine infusion of PRP post-breeding significantly reduced the uterine inflammatory response as measured by a reduction of inflammatory cells in the uterus of mares that previously experienced prolonged post-breeding endometritis. Consequently, a significant increase in confirmed pregnancies (30% without PRP infusion vs. 60% with PRP infusion) was observed. However, there were no studies evaluating the effects of PRP supplementation on sperm characteristics.

Platelet rich plasma is a portion of plasma that contains a greater number of platelets compared to whole blood and platelets are a natural reservoir of multiple proteins, cytokines, growth factors, adhesive proteins, clotting factors, fibrinolytic factors, proteases and antiproteases, and membrane glycoproteins (GFs) (3, 4). GFs contained within  $\alpha$  granules of platelets aid in the regulation of the inflammatory niche of a wound through chemo attraction, cell proliferation and maturation, matrix synthesis, and angiogenesis (5).

Platelet lysate (PL) is an acellular serum substitute obtained after lysis of platelet concentrates and is composed of growth and chemotactic factors that promote cell proliferation and recruitment (6). Previous report of platelet pheresis in horses showed a 1 to 2.3 higher concentrations of platelets in PRP lysate than whole blood platelet count (7). In addition, platelet lysates can be stored at -20°C for at least five months, while maintaining stability in growth factor content (8).

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF2), one of the key growth factors in PRP (9), has been shown to improve the characteristics of human and murine sperm (10-12). Sperm cells incubated with recombinant human FGF2 (rhFGF2) showed an increase in the percentage of motile cells and enhanced sperm kinematics using human (11) and murine (12) models. These previous experiments tested rFGF2 concentrations (0.1 to 1 ng/mL) within the range reported to be present in human PRP (0.15 to 0.30 ng/mL) (9). In addition, FGF2 concentration in the ejaculate was positively correlated with total sperm number, percentage of motile cells, and total motile spermatozoa, which was supported by the incubation of the ejaculate with rFGF2 that led to an increase in both total number and motile sperm recovered by the swim up technique (10).

Therefore, the aims of this project were to determine if PRPL or FGF2 treatments enhance sperm motility and affect sperm survival. The following hypotheses were tested: (1)

Platelet rich plasma lysate and FGF2 added to semen extender will enhance sperm motility and (2) sperm characteristics will be maintained when PRPL or FGF2 are added to semen extender. Positive results will allow further research involving the effect of PRPL and FGF2 on sperm capacitation, the effect of PRPL added to semen extender on the uterine inflammatory response post-breeding, and possible fertility trials for clinical application.

#### 2. Literature review

#### **2.1.Cool shipped semen**

Artificial insemination (AI) in horses is a widely used tool in horse reproduction (13). Assisted reproduction techniques, such as AI and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), require the storage of sperm for its application either by chilling or cryopreserving the sperm (14). During storage, it is inevitable to have cell death which can be delayed or even prevented through temperature-induced metabolic restriction by chilling or cryopreserving the sperm cell. The use of chilled or cryopreserved semen depends on the length of time desired before insemination.

Sperm chilling is the most widely used technique for the transport and storage of stallion spermatozoa. Commercially available passive coolers are used to achieve a controlled chill rate to slowly cool extended semen to a temperature of between 4 and 10°C and reduce sperm metabolism sufficiently to maintain sperm functionality for up to 72 hours (15). Milk-based extenders are routinely incorporated into media for chilled semen due to their membranestabilizing effects (16). Cold shock can occur when the sperm cell is not able to survive the cooling process and is usually due to an improper cooling rate or lack of cell protection. In stallions with a low tolerance for cooling, cholesterol-loaded cyclodextrins (CLCs) have been shown to improve membrane fluidity and ameliorate cold shock (16-18), although with an effect on delaying sperm capacitation (17). Other compounds used for cooling semen are coenzyme Q10 (a-tocopherol) (19) and superoxide dismutase (20). Antioxidant treatments have been attempted, but disappointing results were obtained (21) and it is hypothesized that antioxidants have an interaction or interference with milk constituents in the extenders (22).

The restriction of metabolic rate by cooling can also reduce the production of toxic metabolic by-products, such as hydrogen peroxide, lipid aldehydes, and carbon dioxide (23, 24). Decreased temperature slows the depletion of factors associated with the maintenance of homeostasis, such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (23, 24). The temperature-induced metabolic restriction can also reduce the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and slow-down the acidification of the storage medium through the accumulation of lactic acid and CO<sub>2</sub> from glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation.

As one of the constituents of the ejaculate, seminal plasma has been shown to be beneficial to the viability and acrosome integrity of spermatozoa from boars, bulls, and rams (25). However, studies have also shown that high concentrations of seminal plasma can be detrimental to the motility and membrane integrity of stallion spermatozoa over time (26-28). In stallions, a small amount of seminal plasma (0.6%–20%) is beneficial to both sperm parameters and fertility (29, 30). Seminal plasma has an inhibitory effect on the binding of polymorphonuclear neutrophils, reducing sperm phagocytosis within the female reproductive tract, and enhancing fertility when there is underlying uterine inflammation (31).

Poor quality semen, which contains increased amount of abnormal and/or non-viable sperm, is believed to have higher amounts of ROS produced by non-viable cells (32). These non-viable cells will accelerate the demise of the remaining sperm population during storage. In addition, enzymes that generate ROS can also affect the amino acid substrates found in animal protein-based semen extenders, such as milk based and egg yolk–based semen extenders (33). One factor shown to be released primarily by dead spermatozoa is L-amino acid oxidase and, when left in the insemination dose during semen processing and storage, a quick decline in motility and viability will occur (34). Therefore, the reduction of ROS in stored sperm is desired,

as low levels of oxidative stress results in decreased oxidative damage of DNA and maintain the sperm cell's ability to participate in fertilization (35).

Sperm motility can be evaluated subjectively by a visual estimation of the proportion of motile and non-motile sperm or objectively using computer assisted semen analysis (CASA), which is able to trach the sperm movement and calculate the proportion of motile sperm and also changes on movement and velocity. Subjective evaluation is expected to have 30-60% variation among observers or laboratories (Coetzee 1999, Davis 1992). The CASA evaluation prevents this variation of subjective analysis caused by skill of the observer, the method of specimen preparation, and number of cells evaluated. Motility parameters calculated by the CASA include total (MOT, %) and progressive (PROG, %) motility; average path (VAP, µm/s), straight-line (VSL, µm/s), and curvilinear (VCL, µm/s) velocities; amplitude of lateral head displacement (ALH, µm); beat/cross frequency (BCF, Hz); straightness (STR, %); and linearity (LIN, %). In addition, other parameters can be includes as the total number of cell counted (TOTCELL, cell number), distance curved line (DCL,  $\mu$ m), distance average path (DAP,  $\mu$ m), distance straight line (DSL, µm), wobbling (WOB, VAP/VCL), slow motility (SLOWMOT, %), non-progressive motility (NPMOT, %), average orientation change (AOC, degree), and concentration (CONC, cells/mL).

Proportion of moving sperm versus non-moving sperm is calculated by TMOT. Variations on sperm motion are detected by PMOT, PMOT, ALH, BCF, STR, LIN, WOB, and NPMOT. Variations on sperm path can be detected by DCL, DAP, DSL, and AOC, and changes on sperm velocity can be detected by VAP, VSL, VCL, and SLOWMOT. In addition, concentration can be converted using TOTCELL divided by the volume of the microscopic fields

counted, represented by CONC. A representation of the measurements is shown in Following figure by (36).



Figure from (36). Illustration showing CASA terminology. Initial image processing provides a centroid for each spermatozoon in the first frame of a scene, and for each cell location of the most probable centroid in successive frames is deduced. Connecting the centroids for a spermatozoon provides its actual trajectory, termed curvilinear path. The time-averaged velocity along this trajectory is termed curvilinear velocity (VCL; mm/s). The average path is computed, and time-averaged velocity along this trajectory is termed average path velocity (VAP; mm/s). A straight-line path from the first to last position of a sperm head is plotted, and velocity along this trajectory is termed straight line velocity (VSL; mm/s). For each centroid location there is a deviation from the average path, and this is termed the amplitude of lateral head displacement (ALH; mm). Similarly, there are points where the curvilinear path intersects the average path, and the number of such intersections is termed beat-cross frequency (BCF; number per second). CASA, computer-assisted sperm analysis.

In the present study, motility analysis will be performed using CASA to evaluate changes on sperm motility during storage after *in vitro* treatments of semen samples. Improved sperm motility is the first step for detection of a potential treatment for sperm activity and survival for storage. If positive effects are observed, molecular analysis for specific events for sperm fertilization as cell membrane stability and capacitation are the next steps.

#### 2.2.Platelet rich plasma and platelet lysate

Platelets are cellular fragments of megakaryocytes in peripheral blood that are known primarily for their role in hemostasis. The basic cytokines identified in platelets include transforming growth factor– $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF-I, IGF-II), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), epidermal growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), endothelial cell growth factor, zinc (Zn), and superoxide dismutase (SOD) that are stored in a dense membranous system, the alpha granules (3, 37-40). Other molecules inside platelet  $\alpha$ -granules include adhesive proteins, clotting factors, fibrinolytic factors, proteases and anti-proteases, membrane glycoproteins serotonin, histamine, dopamine, calcium, and adenosine (4). The processing of whole blood to concentrate platelets should be done under anti-coagulation factors because in coagulated blood, platelets become part of the clot, are lysed, and lose their content.

One of the benefits of PRP therapy includes the minimally invasive harvest from the patient, rapid and relatively easy preparation, and low relative cost. Production of PRP can be performed by concentration of platelets using either centrifugation (41) or filtration (42). Centrifugation is the most common processing method and the product can be obtained manually or using commercially available kits. Several commercial systems are available to extract PRP from whole blood, but there is great variability in the final platelet, leukocyte, and red blood cell concentration. One of the filtration methods is plateletpheresis which has the benefit of collection of large volumes of platelet concentrate from standing and awake horses and can then be used to produce PRP (7). Another benefit of plateletpheresis is that the process generally involves fewer steps than a protocol from whole blood and may decrease the likelihood of contamination (7).

Prior to use of PRP, platelets need to release GFs from alpha granules by the process of activation (41) which allows a greater concentration of growth factors to be available when compared to non-activated PRP (43). However, this process still leaves intact platelets, white blood cells, fibrinogen, and fibrin which can induce immunogenic activity after application (44). Natural activation of platelets results from exposure to collagen, but physical or chemical activation may be performed in vitro. The most common activation methods include mechanical disruption of the platelet through freezing and thawing, or chemical disruption through exposure to bovine thrombin or calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) (43, 45). The most feasible activation method is the freeze and thaw involving a snap freeze and storage in a -20°C freezer. The aim of the freeze/thaw activation is to physically injure the platelets to initiate degranulation, but there is no consensus regarding the number of freeze/thaw cycles necessary for complete degranulation. Many protocols recommend four freeze/thaw cycles for in vitro studies. As one example of freeze/thaw activation for experimental use, PRP is frozen, then thawed in a 37°C water bath and microcentrifuged at 21,000 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant, which contains the factors of lysed platelets, is collected and considered activated PRP. (43).

Although currently not easily available for equine practitioners, platelet rich plasma lysate (PRPL) is an acellular substitute for PRP obtained after the lysis of platelet concentrates by plateletpheresis. It is like PRP, but with a higher concentration of growth and chemotactic factors that have been shown to promote cell proliferation and recruitment (6). Most studies using both PRP and PRPL involve the use as therapeutics for healing wounds, soft tissues injuries, and a variety of musculoskeletal injuries in both human and veterinary patients (46, 47). Since it is acellular, PRPL has been used as an alternative to bovine fetal serum for the expansion of stem cells in a variety of experimental and clinical cell transplantation studies (6, 48, 49). In

human medicine, PRPL presence in culture media induced mesenchymal cell expansion and maintained their differentiation potential and immunophenotypical profile (50, 51). Another benefit of PRPL is its use in a allogenic manner (pooled), due to its lower immunogenicity while still preserving a higher concentration of growth factors and cytokines compared with PRP (7, 48, 52-66). In addition to the ability to pool PRPL, it can be stored for at least 1 year (67), which allow the possibilities of standardizing PRPL for use in regenerative medicine and other applications.

The mechanism of action for both PRP and PRPL is the release of GFs from  $\alpha$  granules and effect on the regulation of inflammation. (5). For that reason, most of the applications of PRP in equine practice include the inflammatory control of joints, bursa, and soft tissue injuries (e.g., tendonitis, tenosynovitis, and skin wounds) (68-71). In equine reproduction, the first mention of blood derivatives on post-mating endometritis was using autologous plasma in association with antibiotic therapy to successfully improve pregnancy rates in lactating and barren mares (72). The mechanism that blood derivatives and plasma or PRP act in the endometrium and control inflammation is not yet well elucidated. Studies using PRP have shown that the anti-inflammatory action of PRP is due to its ability to suppress the expression of COX-2, metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3), TNFa, IL1, and vascular adhesion molecules (73-75). In mares suffering from chronic endometritis, treatments of PRP at the time of breeding were able to reduce uterine inflammation and increase pregnancy rates (2). As previously shown in humans and horses, platelet granules containing antimicrobial peptides (RANTES, platelet factor 4, and thymosin beta-4), may contribute to PRP's known bactericidal activity against Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, and Klebsiella pneumoniae (76-83), which are bacteria known to cause endometritis in mares (84). In horses, PRP has been shown to display antibiofilm properties and

restore antimicrobial activity against synovial fluid biofilms and has synergism with amikacin in reducing bacterial load in synovial fluid (85).

The only study using PRP supplementation with sperm was performed recently in humans (86). Supplementation of semen with PRP showed an improvement on sperm motility and protection against oxidation as shown by a decrease in ROS levels, increase of sperm viability, reduction in sperm head vacuolization and decrease in DNA fragmentation (86). Interestingly, doses of 2% and 5% PRP, but not 10% PRP, were able to improve sperm motility and protection against oxidative stress when sperm were challenged with hydroxide peroxide. On the other hand, 10% PRP was deleterious for both sperm motility and viability. Moreover, better outcomes were obtained with 2% PRP compared with 5% PRP.

In horses, no studies have been performed using PRP or PRPL supplementation in semen. The high amount of GF present in PRP and the positive results in other species with the use of both PRP and GFs on the improvement of sperm motility and/or oxidative stress protection raises promising outcomes on its use. In addition, the synergic action of PRP on the modulation uterine inflammation would be an additional benefit on its clinical application.

#### 2.3. Uterine inflammatory response modulation post-mating

As the major cause of subfertility, endometritis is considered the third most common disease affecting mares (87, 88). A transient uterine inflammatory response occurs in all mares approximately 30 minutes after natural or artificial breeding. The goal of the transient uterine inflammatory response is to eliminate seminal plasma, microorganisms, debris, and excess sperm, preparing the uterine lumen for the arrival of an embryo (89). Mares are classified as susceptible or resistant to persistent breeding-induced endometritis (PBIE) based on their ability

to clear this inflammation by 48 hours post-breeding (90, 91). In PBIE mares, the inflammation can persist for more than 96 hours impairing embryonic survival and establishment of pregnancy (92-94). The main cause of PBIE is poor uterine clearance often due to poor vulvar conformation and a pendulous uterus (95) found most in older multiparous mares.

The diagnosis of endometritis involves multiple approaches combined with thorough history evaluation. Endometrial culture, cytology, and biopsy are the most common tools employed to diagnose endometritis in mares (96). Mares susceptible to PBIE may have a history of accumulating intrauterine fluid before and after breeding, recurrent embryonic loss, early return to estrus, failure to become pregnant despite good breeding management, and vulvar discharge. Currently, the lack of response to traditional therapy and the increasing prevalence of antimicrobial-resistant pathogens has led to the development of alternative therapies to treat mares suffering from chronic endometritis (97).

Therapies to control uterine inflammation include a combination of uterine lavage, ecbolic agents, anti-inflammatories, and antibiotics, which can fail in some mares (84, 97). Mares with defective reproductive anatomy (e.g., poor vulvar conformation, torn vestibulovaginal sphincter, pendulous uterus, impaired uterine contractility, incompetent cervix, and atrophied endometrium folds) are more prone to aspirate air or accumulate fluid or urine in the vaginal vault and uterus, which makes the mares more prone to endometritis (84, 98). Mares with a competent immune response and functional reproductive anatomy are able to clear infections spontaneously (i.e., mares are resistant to endometritis), whereas mares with a deficient immune response may be unable to combat the development of an infection or may have persistent inflammation (99-102). The most recent post-mating endometritis treatment

protocols include ecbolics, antibiotics, uterine lavage, biofilm treatment, immunomodulatory agents, lactoferrin, platelet-rich plasma, and stem cells (103).

As described in the previous section of this literature review, PRP showed promising improvement of PBIE, but the mechanism of action on the inflammatory response within the uterus is not yet understood. For the present study, PRPL could also act as a modulator of uterine inflammatory response if directly diluted in the semen dose. Additionally, if PRPL acts negatively on the sperm, then it should not be used in the uterus close to insemination.

#### 2.4.Heparin effect on semen

Heparin-binding proteins have been isolated from the seminal plasma of bulls (104), boars (105-107), stallions (108) and dogs (109). Heparin is a glycosaminoglycan and has been reported to capacitate sperm in rabbit (110) and bull (111). Glycosaminoglycans are present in uterine and oviductal secretions, and follicular fluid and have been shown to stimulate capacitation, acrosome reaction and fertilization in bull spermatozoa (111-115). Heparin can also be used *in vitro* to enhance capacitation and induce acrosome reactions in bovine (115).

Stallion and boar spermatozoa respond to heparin by increasing intracellular calcium concentration, suggesting that heparin may play a role in the fertilizing ability of the spermatozoa through inducing capacitation (109, 116). Although heparin is a component of bovine oviductal fluid (117), the ability of oviductal cell monolayers to decrease calcium uptake in ejaculated equine spermatozoa have not been associated with heparin, as shown in heparin supplemented media, which did not increase intracellular calcium concentrations (118). Glycolytic substrates, such as glucose, have been reported to block heparin-induced capacitation in bull spermatozoa (119). In stallion semen, virtually no fructose is present and spermatozoa

rely only on glucose as an energy source (120). Compared to bulls, stallion spermatozoa may be more tolerant to the presence of glucose in the environment. A possible explanation for the block of heparin-induced capacitation by glucose is that glycolysis or other similar substrates leads to an acidification of bovine sperm that blocks heparin-induced capacitation (121).

In the stallion, heparin has been used to facilitate capacitation and acrosome reaction (122-124). A statistically significant increase in the percentage of acrosome reacted spermatozoa occurred at a dose of 100  $\mu$ g/ml of heparin (equivalent to 50 IU/mL), when incubated for 4 h, without a decrease on sperm viability (122). Other report using a lower dose of  $10 \,\mu g/ml$ (equivalent to 5 IU/ml) of heparin also induced a significant increase in the percentage of acrosome reacted sperm 4h after incubation (124). Yet another study concluded that only doses higher than 50 µg/mL (equivalent to 25 IU/ml) would induce acrosome reaction (123), showing inconsistency on heparin induced sperm capacitation in stallions among laboratories. In contrast, other reports showed no effect or detrimental effect of heparin on *in vitro* fertilization of equine spermatozoa (125, 126). The apparent insensitivity of stallion spermatozoa to lower concentrations of heparin and inability of low concentrations of heparin to support in vitro fertilization (125, 126) may reflect differences in heparin binding sites or binding affinity for heparin to stallion spermatozoa in contrast with the bull, in which 10 µg/ml of heparin can induce capacitation and acrosome reaction (111, 113, 119, 127). However, bull spermatozoa capacitated with heparin demonstrates intense head-to-head attachment (HHA) (111, 128) which interfere with motility analysis resulting in lower estimations of motility when, in fact, motility may have been similar between heparin and non-heparin-treated spermatozoa (123). In stallion, HHA was minimal after heparin treatment of sperm and motility evaluation was not affected (123).

For the present experiment, heparin treatment for either PRP and PRPL was necessary to prevent a gel reaction of milk-based extender and likely fibrinogen present in the PRPL. The possibility of sperm capacitation induced by heparin is important to consider, even with a low dose. To check the occurrence of capacitation, a comparison of hyperactivated sperm motility between treated and non-treated groups would be an easy and feasible measurement, that can be confirmed by a molecular analysis using pisum sativum Agglutinin labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate and Hoechst dye Nu33258 (double fluorescence) (FITC-PSA) (Risopatron et al. 2001; de Andrade et al. 2018) to measure the proportion of capacitated sperm.

#### 2.5.Fibroblast growth factor 2 effect on semen

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF2) is one of the growth factors present in human PRP (9) and has been shown to enhance certain characteristics of sperm in humans and mice. Ejaculates incubated with recombinant FGF2 had an increase in the percentage of motile cells and enhanced sperm kinematics using human (11) and murine (12) models. In humans, samples incubated with 100 ng/mL of FGF2 had significantly higher percentages of total and progressive motility, as well an increased linearity (LIN), amplitude of lateral head displacement (ALH), beat/cross frequency (BCF), and velocity parameters, which represents advanced sperm functionality. This effect of FGF2 was confirmed by preincubation with BGJ398 (FGF2 receptor inhibitor) which inhibited the motility stimulation response (11).

In mice, sperm motility increased 30 min after treatment with 0.1 and 1 ng/mL of rFGF2 followed by a decrease after 60 and 90 min (12). Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels and acrosomal exocytosis, known to occur during sperm capacitation, increased after FGF2 treatment (12). Important consideration is that the experiment in mice was performed using sperm harvested

from the epididymis, while in humans, it was performed using natural ejaculates which contains seminal fluid. Therefore, the absence or presence of seminal plasma should be considered as a confounding effect for the sperm response to FGF2.

Concentrations of FGF2 in human ejaculate are positively correlated with total sperm number, percentage of motile cells, and total motile spermatozoa (10, 129, 130). Human spermatozoa contain receptors for fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 1, 2, 3, and 4 (131), which are present at the flagellum (middle and principal pieces) (11) and acrosomal region (10). The exposure of sperm to FGF2 led to an increase in the phosphorylation of flagellar FGF receptors and to the activation of extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and protein kinase B signaling pathways (11). Furthermore, FGF2 has also been measured in the bovine oviduct, oocyte, and cumulus cells (132), suggesting that FGF2 may also play a role in sperm transport in the female reproductive tract. These findings support a possible physiological effect of FGF2 on stimulation of sperm cell motility in the female reproductive tract (129, 130, 133, 134). Therefore, FGF2 shows promising characteristics that would qualify it as a potential supplement to ejaculates for sperm selection techniques (10).

In addition to the observed increase in motility, the incubation of human ejaculates with 10 ng/mL of FGF2 led to an increase in both total number and motile sperm recovered by the swim up technique, in comparison with 0 and 100 ng/mL (10). The apparent loss of effect at 100 ng/mL was suggested to be due to a saturation of FGF receptors and inhibition of complex receptor/ligand formation, preventing rFGF2 stimulation of sperm motility. This phenomenon is defined as a biphasic-dose response, previously observed in cellular response to FGF (135). Sperm agglutination was observed when semen was diluted in an ascending gradient solution of FGF2, but not when diluted in a solution with a homogeneous concentration (12). This

phenomenon supports the chemokinetic action of FGF2, resulting in the increment of sperm velocity and cell to cell migration (12).

Other GFs were also able to improve semen motility in other species than horses. In rams, EGF was able to increase sperm motility and progressive movement at a dose-dependent manner, which started 30 minutes after treatment and was maintained for a longer period (48 h) after cooling storage (136, 137). In human, VEGF has been suggested to have a positive effect on sperm motility parameters, but not survival, in a concentration-dependent manner in vitro (138). One suggested hypothesis is that VEGF may act in on the stabilization of mitochondrial membrane potential and prevention of oxidative damage via activation of the nuclear factor erythroid 2 – related factor 2 (NrF2) pathway (139). In bovine, IGF I and II increased sperm motility parameters and indicated an involvement in the initiation and maintenance of bovine sperm motility (140), suggested to be related to the stimulation of adenylate cyclase and cAMP production.

More specific with factors present on PRP, sperm motility improvement was also observed on *in vitro* treatment containing TGF- $\beta$  (141), FGF (12), VEGF (138), ZN (142), and SOD (143). However, other studies reported no effect on sperm motility by IGF-I (144) and PDGF (145). In addition to motility improvement, TGF- $\beta$  had also anti-inflammatory properties with a potential role on the interaction between female reproductive tract and sperm after mating (141). The antioxidant Zn/Cu SOD enzyme had also a protective role on sperm motility besides improvement, which was mainly related with the maintenance of membrane integrity, reduction of DNA fragmentation, and inhibition of lipid peroxidation (LPO) of sperm (142-144).

Following the rationality of previous studies, the first idea for the present experiment was to test if sperm would survive after supplementation with PRP and used directly in the semen to

treat post-mating endometritis. Since GFs have been shown to improve sperm motility in other species, the focus of the study was adjusted to examine the direct effect of PRP on semen motility in the stallion. For that, a more purified and active form of PRP, the PRPL, was selected and an additional experiment was planned with one GF alone, the FGF2. Therefore, the present study would be able to test the effect of PRPL factors on sperm motility and an additional test would be performed to test the effect of FGF2 alone. Moreover, we could define a maximal dose of PRPL to be added in the semen for a potential treatment for post-mating endometritis.

#### 3. Objectives

The objectives for the have study are:

- 1- Determine if PRPL or FGF2 treatments enhance sperm motility.
- 2- Evaluate if PRPL or FGF2 treatments affect sperm survival over 24 hours and during the cooling process.

#### 4. Hypothesis

The following hypotheses were tested in the have study:

- 1- Treatment of semen with PRPL or FGF2 enhances sperm motility.
- Sperm motility enhancement is more pronounced after treatment with FGF2 when compared with PRPL.
- 3- Sperm survival will be maintained when PRPL or FGF2 are added to semen extender.

#### 5. Design, Methods, and Analysis

#### **5.1.Animals**

Seven stallions deemed healthy by physical examination were used for semen collection. Experimental number was based on a power analysis of 80% using preliminary data from humans (10, 11), which showed an increase from  $42 \pm 4\%$  to  $55 \pm 4\%$  in sperm cell motility after treatment with 100 ng/mL of recombinant human FGF2 in 5 subjects. Selection of stallions was based on a breeding soundness examination including, normal reproductive tract by visual and palpation examination and presence of at least 30% progressively motile sperm in the ejaculate and more than 50% morphologically normal sperm. All procedures were performed in accordance with the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), protocol 2018-3226.

#### **5.2.Semen** Collection

Two separate ejaculates were collected from each of the 7 stallions. Collection was performed using a Missouri style artificial vagina (AV) with stallion exposed to an estrus or ovariectomized mare and mounting a breeding phantom. Semen analysis was performed within 30 min of collection by the same unblinded investigator. After first analysis and immediate dilution with semen extender, semen samples were maintained at 37 °C until allocation into the appropriate treatment groups and start of motility analysis.

#### 5.3. Trials with platelet rich plasma and heparin

The first trial was performed using platelet rich plasma (PRP) at concentrations of 0, 5, 10, 25, and 50% added to semen diluted in three different extenders: Dulbecco's modified eagle's

medium (Sigma-Aldrich, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany); E-Z Mixin® - "BF" Semen Extender Standard Formula (ARS, Ontario, CA, USA); and INRA 96 (IMV technologies, L'Aigle, France). In all semen extenders used, a dose dependent gel formation was observed. Therefore, a test was performed to detect if the PRP was reacting with the unextended semen or pure extender. For that, pure INRA 96 was diluted with 50% PRP as well as unextended semen at 50% PRP and gel formation was monitored visually. No gel formation was visualized when semen alone was diluted with PRP, which confirmed that this reaction was between the semen extender and PRP, and independent of the presence of semen. This gel formation was like the one reported with use of PRP *in vitro* for cell culture and could be prevented by supplementation with heparin (146). Of extenders tested, INRA96 showed better preservation of sperm motility characteristics and is the extender most used in our lab. Therefore, INRA96 was used for further testing of gel formation. Based on the previous literature, heparin at doses of 0, 0.5, 0.7, and 0.9 IU/mL were added to extender containing 50% of PRP (without semen). The concentration of 0.7 IU/mL of heparin prevented gel formation during hours 0, 1, 2, 3, and 20 after treatment. At doses 0 and 0.5 IU/mL, gel was visualized at hours 1 and 20, respectively. Concentrations of heparin greater than 0.7 IU/mL were able to prevent gel formation at all time points and could be used for further sperm motility analysis in the experiment. Therefore, 1 IU/mL was selected to be used for being above 0.7 IU/mL and 5 times below the expected concentration to cause sperm capacitation (5 IU/mL, (124)) which is an unwanted confounding effect for the experiment.

Further trials were performed using extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin and 0, 5, 10, 25, and 50% of PRP. For this trial, frozen semen was thawed and resuspended in 1 part of semen to 4 parts of extender (INRA 96), centrifuged and diluted to a standard concentration between 30 to 50 million/mL for computer assessed sperm analysis (CASA). No gel formation

was noted, but agglutination via head to head attachment (HHA) occurred and resulted in a decrease of free-swimming sperm starting at hours 1 for 10% and 25% PRP, and hours 3 for 5% PRP (Table 1). For 50% PRP, most of sperm cells lost motility in less than one hour and HHA was not visualized.

Based on these findings, another trial was performed using fresh semen and lower percentages of PRP (0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10%) with more frequent analyses (hours 0, 1, 6, 12, and 24). Additionally, samples were aliquoted, cooled, and maintained in an Equitainer at 5°C after the first hour for better preservation of sperm characteristics and more closely follow the equine industry process. For each successive analysis,  $25\mu$ L of each sample was warmed to 37 °C prior to each analysis. Results showed that HHA occurred at 6 hours at 10% PRP and at 12 hours at 5% PRP. Due to an increase in HHA in groups 5% and 10% PRP, motility percentage analyzed by the computer was falsely increased and the data was deemed unreliable. Below 10% PRP, no effect on motility was apparent when compared with the control throughout the 24-hour period analyzed. For the main experiment PRP was switched to PRP lysate (PRPL) for being an acellular substitute for PRP obtained after the lysis of platelet concentrates by plateletpheresis, able to be pooled with different donors for standardization of treatments, and present less contamination.

#### **5.4.Preparation of PRPL**

Platelet rich plasma lysate samples were provided by the laboratory of Dr. John F. Peroni from University of Georgia. The preparation of PRPL was performed as previously described (7). Briefly, platelet concentrates were obtained following plateletpheresis (COBE Spectra DualNeedle) in five-mixed breed horses belonging to the University of Georgia equine blood donor herd. The platelets were fractured using two freeze-thaw cycles followed by three centrifugation cycles. The PRPL was then filtered through a 40- $\mu$ m cellulose acetate membrane (EMD Millipore, Billerica, Massachusetts) to remove cellular debris. An equal portion of lysate from each horse was combined to obtain a pooled product. Samples of PRPL in aliquots of 1 mL were stored in a freezer at – 80°C for further use.

#### **5.5.Recombinant FGF2**

Recombinant equine FGF basic protein (FGF2) was produced by bacterial expression system and commercially obtained (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). As recommended for the manufacturer, FGF2 was reconstituted to a maximum concentration of 250 µg/mL in water containing at least 0.1% of bovine serum albumin (BSA). After reconstitution (250 µg/mL), different amounts of diluted FGF2 were added to the ejaculate to achieve the desired concentrations of 0, 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL of FGF2. Treatment doses were formulated based on previous studies using recombinant FGF2 in human and mice semen (11, 12). After reconstitution under sterile conditions, FGF2 was stored between -20 to -70°C and is stable for at least 3 months.

#### **5.6.Sample Preparation**

The ejaculate obtained was analyzed for sperm concentration using the Sperm Cell Counter (NucleoCounter® SP-100<sup>™</sup>, Chemometec) and a volume containing 600 million total sperm was placed in 50 mL conical tubes, diluted 1 part of semen to 4 parts of standard milk based extender (INRA 96<sup>®</sup>) and centrifuged at 900xG for 10 minutes. The supernatant was withdrawn to a volume of 3ml and the pellet obtained was re-suspended. The concentration was then recounted with the NucleoCounter to confirm concentrations between 100 to 200 million sperm/mL, as illustrated in figure 1.



Figure 1. Illustration of preparation of the ejaculate prior to treatments.

Prior to the addition of treatments, the volume of the centrifuged ejaculate was adjusted to a final concentration of 50 million/mL in all samples. For that, PRPL treatment groups had the following components with 50 million sperm per ml in all treatment groups.

- 1- Extended semen only (CTRL; control without heparin)
- 2- Extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin (CTRL Hep; control with heparin)
- 3- Extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin and 1% PRPL (1% PRPL)
- 4- Extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin and 2.5% PRPL (2.5% PRPL)
- 5- Extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin and 5% PRPL (5% PRPL)
- 6- Extended semen with 1 IU/mL of heparin and 10% PRPL (10% PRPL)

For FGF2 treatments groups contained the following components with 50 million sperm per ml in all groups:

- 1- Extended semen only (CTRL)
- 2- Extended semen with 0.1 ng/mL of FGF2 (FGF2-0.1)
- 3- Extended semen with 1 ng/mL of FGF2 (FGF2-1)
- 4- Extended semen with 10 ng/mL of FGF2 (FGF2-10).
- 5- Extended semen with 100 ng/mL of FGF2 (FGF2-100).

Experimental design is represented in Figure 1:





Figure 2. Experimental design.

The rationale of the doses of PRPL were established during the initial trials leading up to the present study and heparin was added to prevent gel formation. The rationale of FGF2 concentrations used was based on previous studies in human and mice using the same doses (11, 12). In all treated samples the final concentration of sperm was standardized to 50 million sperm per mL in all groups to allow motility evaluation by the computer assisted sperm analysis (CASA, Minitube SAS).

#### **5.7.Semen Analysis**

Motion characteristics of the sperm were assessed objectively after warming using a computer assisted sperm analysis (CASA, Minitube SAS). Aliquots of 5µL of each treatment were placed in a 20µm standard count analysis chamber (SC20.01. FA; Leja®, Nieuw-Vennep, The Netherlands). Seven fields were selected for analysis of total (MOT, %) and progressive (PROG, %) motility; average path (VAP, µm/s), straight-line (VSL, µm/s), and curvilinear (VCL, µm/s) velocities; amplitude of lateral head displacement (ALH, µm); beat/cross frequency (BCF, Hz); straightness (STR, %); and linearity (LIN, %), as previously described (147). Additional measurements were performed including total number of cell counted (TOTCELL, cell number), distance curved line (DCL,  $\mu$ m), distance average path (DAP,  $\mu$ m), distance straight line (DSL, µm), wobbling (WOB, VAP/VCL), slow motility (SLOWMOT, %), nonprogressive motility (NPMOT, %), average orientation change (AOC, degree), and concentration (CONC, cells/mL). Sperm morphology was assessed on the initial ejaculate by evaluating 100 sperm cells stained with eosin nigrosine stain. The following abnormalities were assessed: abnormal head shape, abnormal midpiece, detached head, proximal droplet, distal droplet, bent tail, coiled tail, and premature germ cells. Aliquots of extended semen under the outlined experimental conditions were cooled to 5°C and stored in a standard semen shipping container after motility analysis after hour one. For each analysis time point (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 hours), 25  $\mu$ L of the samples were warmed to 37°C prior to semen motility evaluation. Experiment design is represented in Figure 1.

#### **5.8.Data Analysis**

Data was analyzed separate for each experiment, PRPL and FGF2. Differences among groups, time, and interaction between group and time were tested. Data was examined for

normality using a Shapiro-Wilk and if the data was not normally distributed it was transformed into natural logarithm or rank. The SAS MIXED procedure (Version 9.4; SAS Institute) was used with a repeated statement to account for correlation between sequential measurements. A probability of  $P \le 0.05$  indicated that a difference was significant.

#### 6. Results

#### 6.1. Heparin effect on semen

To monitor the effect of heparin on the PRPL treated samples, one heparin treated group was compared with a non-treated control. No effect (P < 0.05) of group, time, or interaction between group and time was found between heparin treated and control groups for all motility variables obtained by the CASA.

#### **6.2.** Platelet rich plasma lysate (PRPL)

For TOTCELLS and CONC, differences among groups, time, and interaction between group and time were noted (P < 0.05) (Fig. 1). Both variables showed a decrease (P < 0.05) starting at hour 1 in groups 5% and 10% PRPL. Values for groups 5% PRPL and 10% PRPL remained lower (P < 0.05) than all other groups starting at hour 1.5, and values for group 10% PRPL were lower (P < 0.05) than group 5% PRPL starting at hour 1.5. In both groups, head-tohead attachment was visually observed on the screen, but not able to be objectively evaluated.



**Figure 3.** TOTCELLS and CONC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in a control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant differences (P < 0.05) were noted among groups, time, and interaction between groups and time. Groups 5% and 10% PRPL had a gradual decrease from hour 0 to 24. Group differences within a time point are represented by lowercase letters (a, b, and c). Groups with statistically similar values at a specific time point are grouped by a square and represented by a lowercase letter (a, b, and c).

Significant differences (P < 0.05) over time were noted for TMOT, PMOT, DCL, DAP, VCL, VAP, ALH, AOC, DSL, VSL, BCF, STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT, but no difference (P > 0.05) among group or interaction between groups and time were noted. Therefore, groups were combined for each variable to evaluate changes over time.

Total motility (TMOT) and PMOT gradually decreased (P < 0.05) from 0 to 1.5 hours followed by a plateau in TMOT and PMOT after hour 1.5 (Fig. 2).


**Figure 4.** TMOT and PMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease in all groups from hours 0 to 1.5 when groups were combined. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

Distance curved line (DCL), DAP, VCL, VAP, ALH, and AOC showed significant decreases (P < 0.05) from hours 0 to 1 followed by a gradual increase (P < 0.05) up to 24 hours (Fig. 3).



**Distance Curved Line (DCL)** 

- Control w/o heparin
- --- Control with heparin
- ••• 1% PRPL
- 2.5% PRPL
- 🛧 5% PRPL
- ----- 10% PRPL

**Distance Average Path (DAP)** 



- Control w/o heparin
- Control with heparin
- 1% PRPL
- ---- 2.5% PRPL
- 📥 5% PRPL
- -∆- 10% PRPL



- Control w/o heparin
- --- Control with heparin
- •• 1% PRPL
- ---- 2.5% PRPL
- 📥 5% PRPL
- -∆- 10% PRPL

- Control w/o heparin
- -O- Control with heparin
- ••• 1% PRPL
- ---- 2.5% PRPL
- → 5% PRPL
- ------ 10% PRPL



**Figure 5.** DCL, DAP, VCL, VAP, ALH, and AOC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease from hours 0 to 1 followed by a gradual increase until hour 24 when groups were combined. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*)

Distance straight line (DSL) and VSL showed a gradual decrease (P < 0.05) from hours 0 to 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease (P < 0.05) until hour 24 (Fig. 4).



# **Distance Straight Line (DSL)**

**Figure 6**. DSL and VSL obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease from hours 0 to 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease until hour 24. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

Beat cross frequency (BCF), STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT showed an increase (P < 0.05) from hour 0 to 0.5, a decrease (P < 0.05) from hours 0.5 and 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease (P < 0.05) until hour 24 (Fig. 5).





- Control with heparin
- Control w/o heparin
- ••• 1% PRPL
- ••• 2.5% PRPL
- 📥 5% PRPL
- -∆- 10% PRPL

Linearity (LIN)



- Control with heparin
- Control w/o heparin
- ••• 1% PRPL
- 2.5% PRPL
- 📥 5% PRPL
- ----- 10% PRPL



**Figure 7.** BCF, STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, and 10% of PRPL in 1 IU/mL of heparin. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by an increase from hour 0 to 0.5, a decrease from hours 0.5 and 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease until hour 24 when groups were combined. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

#### 6.3.Fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2)

No differences (P < 0.05) were noted between PRPL and FGF2 variables. No

effect (P < 0.05) of group or interaction between group and time was present for all FGF2 treated

groups. However, significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noticed for all variables, except for

TOTCELLS and CONC which showed constant values throughout the experiment (Fig. 6).



**Figure 8.** TOTCELL and CONC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. No significant difference (P < 0.05) was noted among groups, time, or interaction between groups and time.

Therefore, all groups were combined and changes among times showed a similar pattern to PRPL experiment. The variables TMOT and PMOT showed a gradual decrease (P < 0.05) from hours 0 to 6 followed by motility maintenance until hour 24 (Fig. 7).



6

24

1.5

20

0.0

0.5

1.0

Hours from treatment

**Figure 9.** TMOT and PMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease in all groups. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

The variables DCL, DAP, VCL, VAP, and ALH, decreased (P < 0.05) from hours 0 to 1,

and AOC decreased (p < 0.05) from hours 0 to 6. An increase (P < 0.05) was noted on DCL,

VCL, and ALH starting at hour 0.5, and with DAP, VAP, and AOC starting at hour 6 (Fig. 8).



24

0.0

0.5

1.0

Hours from treatment

1.5

- Control
- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2 -0-
- 1 ng/mL FGF2
- 10 ng/mL FGF2 ÷
- 100 ng/mL FGF2

- Control -
- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2 -0-
- 1 ng/mL FGF2
- 10 ng/mL FGF2 --0--
- 100 ng/mL FGF2

24



- Control
- --- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2
- 1 ng/mL FGF2
- -↔ 10 ng/mL FGF2
- ▲ 100 ng/mL FGF2

- Control
- --- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2
- 1 ng/mL FGF2
- -↔ 10 ng/mL FGF2
- → 100 ng/mL FGF2



**Figure 10.** DCL, DAP, VCL, VAP, ALH, and AOC obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted in all variables represented by decrease followed by an increase at different hour 0.5 for the variables DCL, VCL, and ALH, and at hour 6 for the variables DAP, VAP, and AOC. Significant (P < 0.05)

time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

The variables DSL and VSL showed a gradual decrease (P < 0.05) starting at hour 0 until hour 24 (Fig. 9).



**Figure 11.** DSL and VSL obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, represented by a gradual decrease from hours 0 to 1, a plateau from hours 1 to 1.5, and a gradual decrease until hour 24. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

A decrease (P < 0.05) was present with BCF, STR, and LIN, starting at hour 0.5 and on WOB and SLOWMOT starting at hours 1 and 1.5, respectively (Fig. 10).



Wobble (WOB)



- --- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2
- Control
- ••• 1 ng/mL FGF2
- ••• 10 ng/mL FGF2
- → 100 ng/mL FGF2

Linearity (LIN)



- --- 0.1 ng/mL FGF2
- Control
- ••• 1 ng/mL FGF2
- ••• 10 ng/mL FGF2
- 🔺 100 ng/mL FGF2



**Figure 12.** BCF, STR, WOB, LIN, and SLOWMOT obtained by CASA during hours 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 6, and 24 in the control group and after treatments with recombinant equine FGF2 at concentrations 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL. Each group contained 7 stallions with 2 ejaculates each. Significant effect of time (P < 0.05) was noted, observed by a decrease starting at hour 0.5 for the variables, BCF, STR, and LIN, at hour 1 for the variable WOB, and at hour 1.5 for the variable SLOWMOT. Significant (P < 0.05) time changes in direction (increase or decrease) for groups combined are represented by a circle. The first significant (P < 0.05) change on direction for time in the groups combined are indicated by an asterisk (\*).

No significant (P < 0.05) effects of group, time, or interaction between group and time were noted between PRPL or FGF2 treatments on any sperm motility variables obtained by

CASA.

### 7. Discussion

The hypothesis that pooled platelet rich plasma lysate (PRPL) and/or recombinant equine fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) added to extended sperm enhances sperm motility was not supported (Fig. 2 and Fig. 6) and HHA was noted after PRPL treatment in concentrations higher

than 5%, as shown by a decrease in concentration directly attributed to a decrease of freeswimming sperm (Fig. 1). For the present study, HHA appeared to be an artifact from the reaction with components of PRPL (i.e. fibrin) than a physiologically important event. The artifact assumption of was supported by the fact that PRPL doses were increased among groups but heparin dose was maintained at 1 IU/mL, which could potentially allow the occurrence of slight amounts of gel formation that could entrap sperm and resulting in HHA. Unfortunately, a trial with increased amounts of heparin added to extended semen was not performed and this assumption could not be tested. For a future study, one option should be to repeat the experiment with higher concentrations of heparin and observe if HHA is prevented. However, heparin effect on sperm capacitation should be consider and could be another variable added to the experiment.

In contrast with the artifact hypothesis, previous studies using blood serum in bull sperm had similar outcome of HHA in ascending concentrations and a positive effect of serum on semen motility (148). Several compounds were also able to induce HHA as heparin, serum, or follicular fluid in either monkeys (149), bulls (150, 151), and pigs (152). In the rabbit, HHA could be detected *in utero*, as shown by significant HHA when motile spermatozoa had contact with uterine lumen secretions (153). Moreover, HHA can also be induced by dibutyril-cAMP (154) and in response to dilution, washing, cold shock, extreme pH, or osmotic conditions (120). In the present experiment the only factors tested that could induce HHA based on these previous reports are the PRPL, which is the closest composition to serum, and heparin. However, PRPL may be the sole factor or is acting in synergism with heparin, since no HHA was observed after treatment with 11U/mL of heparin alone.

Besides the HHA occurrence after PRPL treatment, no effect on motility was observed by either PRPL or FGF2 treatments and the present experiment disagree with previous works

performed in human and mice (10, 11, 86). One important characteristic, besides the species difference, was the semen extender or media used in all these previous works, which was not milk-based as the one used in the present experiment (INRA 96). In addition, most commercially available semen extenders do not report their components for a patent purpose and unknown components could be another variable to be added. It is also important to consider that bovine milk, which is the most used component for stallion semen extenders, has several factors including GFs as EGF, FGF1 and FGF2, IGF1 and IGF11, TGF-B1 and TFG-B2 (155), and PDGF, which are also present in PRPL. Those GFs are in high amounts in the bovine colostrum but decrease substantially after a couple of hours. The most abundant GFs in bovine milk are EGF (2-155 ng/mL), IGF-1 (2-101 ng/mL), IGF-II (2-107 ng/mL), and TGF- B2 (13-71 ng/mL) (155). Other GFs concentration, including FGF2, also decrease substantially and are below 4 ng/mL a couple hours after the calf is delivered, when colostrum is all consumed (155). Therefore, it is important to consider that the semen extender, INRA96, contain many factors knowingly beneficial for stallion sperm which could potentially interfere or even mask the effect of PRPL and FGF2 on sperm motility improvement. For further studies, trials with unextended semen would be recommended, but this would not be valuable for clinical use since sperm life span during storage is considerably decreased without dilution in semen extender. Most equine semen extenders available are remarkably similar and use a milk-based formula, but another option would be to use a non-milk-based extender.

The hypothesis that PRPL treatment is not deleterious for sperm survival was supported with concentrations below 10% (Fig. 2), but HHA occurred in concentrations higher than 5% (Fig. 1). Sperm survival can be detected by the maintenance of sperm motility among time, which decreased at a similar rate in all groups. This decrease in motility was expected due to the

amount of time (1-1.5 hour) the samples were being manipulated at a warm (37 °C) temperature before chilling, and by the motility decrease during 24 hours at lower temperature storage. Since no detrimental effect on sperm was observed in the sperm motility comparison with the control group, it is confirmed that the use of PRPL added directly to the ejaculate was not detrimental to the overall sperm cell. This suggests that addition of PRPL at appropriate concentrations prior to breeding may be used to modulate post-mating endometritis. However, it is still unknown if the overall volume or concentration of PRPL that could be used in the semen without deleterious effect on sperm viability is enough to provide immunomodulation in the mare's reproductive tract.

Heparin effect on sperm should also be considered in the present experiment due to its known capacitation effect in stallions (124). Capacitation is a process and is associated with an increase in sperm intracellular Ca2+ levels and protein tyrosine phosphorylation. There is also the development of a distinct pattern of motility (increased lateral deviation of the head) which is followed by a response to the chemotactic stimuli from the egg and acrosomal exocytosis after binding to the oocyte. This process is controlled by intrinsic sperm factors and extrinsic factors in the male and female reproductive tracts (156-159). In the present study, analysis of sperm motility characteristics did not show differences between treated and not treated semen with heparin throughout 24 hours of analysis. If capacitation were triggered, hyperactivated motility in the heparin treated group would likely change the sperm kinetics and be observed by CASA in comparison with the control group. A more detailed evaluation of sperm capacitation using molecular analysis was not performed in the present study and further research is needed. As an example, the molecular analysis for sperm capacitation could be performed using Pisum sativum Agglutinin labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate and Hoechst dye Nu33258 (double

fluorescence) (FITC-PSA) (160, 161), which objectively measures the proportion of capacitated sperm in comparison with non-capacitated sperm.

Previous reports in mares suffering from chronic endometritis used infusions of 20 mL of PRP four hours after artificial insemination and intrauterine inflammatory response was decreased (2), resulting in higher pregnancy rates (1). However, no report was performed using PRPL, which has a greater concentration of factors present in the alpha granules (6) and a potentially greater effectiveness than PRP. One option of a clinical application for the present study would be to supplement PRPL in the semen prior to breeding using doses that are not detrimental to sperm motility and do not induce HHA. However, the volume of PRPL necessary for an effect on uterine inflammatory response post-mating is still unknown. Based on studies using PRP, 20 mL would be an effective dose to act on uterine inflammation post-mating (2) and a maximum PRPL proportion should be 2.5% without an effect on sperm motility or HHA. Therefore, a total volume of 800 mL would be necessary to contain 20 mL of PRPL for an optimal proportion.

Large volumes for artificial insemination are not recommended due to the backflow from the cervix and consequent loss of viable sperm cells. In addition, the infusion of a larger insemination dose could be more malefic than the benefit of PRPL treatment, especially in mares with a history of poor uterine clearance. Therefore, PRPL supplementation in the semen dose to modulate uterine inflammation does not seem clinically viable currently. Options to adjust the treatment dose would be to prevent HHA and increase PRPL concentration so that is not deleterious to sperm motility, or establish the lowest percentage of PRPL that is still effective on the control of uterine inflammation. For that, further studies are necessary to evaluate the amount

of PRPL necessary to modulate uterine inflammatory response and control the occurrence of HHA after supplementation with PRPL treatments higher than 2.5%.

The hypotheses that FGF2 added to semen extender enhances sperm motility was not supported. The hypothesis that sperm survival would be maintained when FGF2 is added to semen extender was supported. No statistically significant changes on sperm motility were observed after FGF2 treatment. Sperm survival was maintained throughout the experiment and the decrease on motility over 24 hours was similar in all FGF2 treated groups compared with the control. Therefore, no beneficial or detrimental effect of FGF2 on sperm motility was noted. As a contrast in humans, treatment using recombinant human FGF2 showed that incubation with 10 ng/mL rhFGF2 led to an increase in both total number and motile sperm recoveries and improvements in sperm VCL, VSL, and LIN values compared with 0 or 100 ng/mL rhFGF2 (10). The incubation of human spermatozoa with FGF2 resulted in a significant increase in the percentage of motile cells, as well as in sperm kinematics, suggesting that the FGF2/ FGFRs system is involved in motility regulation (11). The same result was also observed in mice (12). However, in the present experiment, no significant effect on sperm characteristics was observed. The interference on CASA evaluation is important to consider based on operator experience, sample concentration of sperm, temperature change prior to sample analysis, and variability of motility among animals. If motility changes induced by FGF2 did occur, they were subtle and undetectable by the CASA evaluation in the present experiment. For a clinical setting application, no evident effect of FGF2 was observed that would encourage the clinical use of FGF2 for improvement of stallion sperm motility. One important difference from the present experiment and the ones performed in human and mice (10-12) is the media used for the analysis. In the present experiment, the milk based extender INRA96 has a broad variety of

factors that are knowingly beneficial to the sperm and milk is known to have FGF2 as one of the factors in its composition, even though in amounts below 4 ng/mL. Therefore, the presence of the extender INRA96 could potentially interfere with FGF2 actions or even mask the positive effect on sperm motility, resulting in an undetected effect on sperm motility as similar as what happened with PRPL.

Besides motility effect, FGF2 could potentially affect sperm capacitation, which was not evaluated in the present study. In the murine model, sperm incubation with recombinant mice FGF2 (rmFGF2) led to an increase sperm motility and velocity and to enhanced intracellular Ca2+ levels and acrosomal exocytosis compared to the control (12). Although a detailed evaluation of capacitation was not performed, hypermotility could be detected and observed subjectively on motility analysis. However, all FGF2 groups had similar motility profiles for all variables when compared with the control group. Therefore, capacitation effect of FGF2 on stallion sperm based on hyperactive motility observation was not supported by the present study.

In conclusion, no evidence of a beneficial effect of preservation of semen motility was observed either using PRPL of FGF2 treatment in stallions. Doses of PRPL below 10% did not interfere with sperm survival and PRPL doses greater than 5% induced HHA. It is still unknown if these doses of PRPL in semen would influence uterine inflammatory response modulation. Further studies are needed for the molecular evaluation of sperm capacitation after addition of PRPL and FGF2. Also, PRPL could be directly added to the semen prior to breeding for uterine inflammatory control, but the control of HHA and further evaluation of effects on semen using higher doses are necessary to adjust the treated insemination dose with an acceptable volume. For further research, the clinical application of the present results could be focused on uterine inflammatory response rather than a direct effect on sperm for motility improvement.

### 8. Conclusion

Neither PRPL nor FGF2 had a direct beneficial effect on sperm motility in the present experiment. It is still uncertain the physiological relevance of HHA observed during the treatment with PRP and PRPL, but it is more suggestive of an artifact reaction between sperm and components of PRPL and milk-based extender.

The absence of an effect of either PRPL or FGF2 could potentially be caused by the interference of the semen extender in the results. For further analysis, the use of unextended semen would be an option to test the effect of both compounds on sperm characteristics. However, the absence of semen extender precludes the clinical use of this supplementation for chilled or frozen semen.

No direct molecular analysis for capacitation of sperm was performed in the present experiment and, therefore, the effect of heparin, PRPL, and/or FGF2 on capacitation induction could not be evaluated. One option for further studies would be to use objective analysis with fluorescent probes, as FITC-PSA, to grade the amount of capacitation between groups.

The known effect of PRP on inflammatory response modulation in the uterus and the possibility of a maximum dose of 2.5% of PRPL in the semen without deleterious effect on sperm motility would be an applicable treatment to control post-mating endometritis. However, further research on controlling HHA and adjustments on the PRPL proportion are needed to obtain an optimal volume and concentration for an insemination dose.

## 9. **References**

- 1. Segabinazzi LG, Friso AM, Correal SB, Crespilho AM, Dell'Aqua JA, Jr., Miro J, et al. Uterine clinical findings, fertility rate, leucocyte migration, and COX-2 protein levels in the endometrial tissue of susceptible mares treated with platelet-rich plasma before and after AI. Theriogenology. 2017;104:120-6.
- 2. Reghini MF, Ramires Neto C, Segabinazzi LG, Castro Chaves MM, Dell'Aqua Cde P, Bussiere MC, et al. Inflammatory response in chronic degenerative endometritis mares treated with platelet-rich plasma. Theriogenology. 2016;86(2):516-22.
- 3. Santos S, Sigurjonsson OE, Custodio CA, Mano J. Blood Plasma Derivatives for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine Therapies. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2018;24(6):454-62.
- 4. Salamanna F, Veronesi F, Maglio M, Della Bella E, Sartori M, Fini M. New and emerging strategies in platelet-rich plasma application in musculoskeletal regenerative procedures: general overview on still open questions and outlook. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:846045.
- 5. Foster TE, Puskas BL, Mandelbaum BR, Gerhardt MB, Rodeo SA. Platelet-rich plasma: from basic science to clinical applications. Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(11):2259-72.
- 6. Burnouf T, Strunk D, Koh MB, Schallmoser K. Human platelet lysate: Replacing fetal bovine serum as a gold standard for human cell propagation? Biomaterials. 2016;76:371-87.
- 7. Sumner SM, Naskou MC, Thoresen M, Copland I, Peroni JF. Platelet lysate obtained via plateletpheresis performed in standing and awake equine donors. Transfusion. 2017;57(7):1755-62.
- 8. Rauch C, Feifel E, Amann E-M, Spötl HP, Schennach H, Pfaller W, et al. Alternatives to the use of fetal bovine serum: Human platelet lysates as a serum substitute in cell culture media. ALTEX. 2011;4:305-16.
- 9. Xiong G, Lingampalli N, Koltsov JCB, Leung LL, Bhutani N, Robinson WH, et al. Men and Women Differ in the Biochemical Composition of Platelet-Rich Plasma. Am J Sports Med. 2018;46(2):409-19.
- 10. Garbarino Azua DJ, Saucedo L, Giordana S, Magri ML, Buffone MG, Neuspiller F, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) is present in human spermatozoa and is related with sperm motility. The use of recombinant FGF2 to improve motile sperm recovery. Andrology. 2017;5(5):990-8.
- 11. Saucedo L, Buffa GN, Rosso M, Guillardoy T, Gongora A, Munuce MJ, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptors (FGFRs) in Human Sperm: Expression, Functionality and Involvement in Motility Regulation. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0127297.
- 12. Saucedo L, Sobarzo C, Brukman NG, Guidobaldi HA, Lustig L, Giojalas LC, et al. Involvement of Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 (FGF2) and its receptors in the regulation of 3 mouse sperm physiology. Reproduction. 2018.

- 13. Pagl R, Aurich JE, Müller-Schlösser F, Kankofer M, Aurich C. Comparison of an extender containing defined milk protein fractions with a skim milk-based extender for storage of equine semen at 5°C. Theriogenology. 2006;66(5):1115-22.
- 14. Nath L, Anderson G, McKinnon A. Reproductive efficiency of Thoroughbred and Standardbred horses in north-east Victoria. Australian Veterinary Journal. 2010;88(5):169-75.
- 15. Squires e, Barbacini S, Matthews P, Byers W, Schwenzer K, Steiner J, et al. Retrospective study of factors affecting fertility of fresh, cooled and frozen semen. Equine Veterinary Education. 2010;18:96-9.
- Crespilho AM, Spizziri BE, Meyers M, Graham JK. The Effect of Cholesterol Addition, Buffer, and pH on Equine Sperm Stored at 5°C. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science. 2013;33(8):663-6.
- 17. Hartwig FP, Lisboa FP, Hartwig FP, Monteiro GA, Maziero RRD, Freitas-Dell'Aqua CP, et al. Use of cholesterol-loaded cyclodextrin: An alternative for bad cooler stallions. Theriogenology. 2014;81(2):340-6.
- Torres P, Serres C, Gomez-Cuetara C, Santiago I, Mateos E, Alvarez A. Effect of cholesterolloaded cyclodextrin on motility and plasma membrane integrity of cooled stallion sperm2006. 148-51 p.
- 19. Nogueira B, Sampaio B, Souza M, Costa e Silva E, Zúccari C. Coenzyme Q10 and α-Tocopherol Prevent the Lipid Peroxidation of Cooled Equine Semen. Reproduction in Domestic Animals. 2015;50(6):1003-10.
- Cocchia N, Pasolini MP, Mancini R, Petrazzuolo O, Cristofaro I, Rosapane I, et al. Effect of sod (superoxide dismutase) protein supplementation in semen extenders on motility, viability, acrosome status and ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinase) protein phosphorylation of chilled stallion spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 2011;75(7):1201-10.
- 21. Ball BA, Medina V, Gravance CG, Baumber J. Effect of antioxidants on preservation of motility, viability and acrosomal integrity of equine spermatozoa during storage at 5°C. Theriogenology. 2001;56(4):577-89.
- 22. Brogan PT, Beitsma M, Henning H, Gadella BM, Stout TAE. Liquid storage of equine semen: Assessing the effect of d-penicillamine on longevity of ejaculated and epididymal stallion sperm. Animal Reproduction Science. 2015;159:155-62.
- 23. Hammerstedt RH. Maintenance of bioenergetic balance in sperm and prevention of lipid peroxidation: a review of the effect on design of storage preservation systems. Reprod Fertil Dev. 1993;5(6):675-90.
- 24. Vishwanath R, Shannon P. Do sperm cells age? A review of the physiological changes in sperm during storage at ambient temperature. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 1997;9(3):321-32.
- 25. Maxwell W, Welch G, Johnson L. Viability and membrane integrity of spermatozoa after dilution and flow cytometric sorting in the presence or absence of seminal plasma. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 1996;8(8):1165-78.

- 26. Akcay E, Reilas T, Andersson M, Katila T. Effect of Seminal Plasma Fractions on Stallion Sperm Survival after Cooled Storage. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A. 2006;53(9):481-5.
- 27. Arruda RP, Andrade AFC, Raphael CF, Peres KR, Nascimento J, Martins SMMK, et al. Effects of addition of seminal plasma on lifespan of frozen–thawed equine spermatozoa. Animal Reproduction Science. 2008;107(3):307-8.
- 28. Love CC, Brinsko SP, Rigby SL, Thompson JA, Blanchard TL, Varner DD. Relationship of seminal plasma level and extender type to sperm motility and DNA integrity. Theriogenology. 2005;63(6):1584-91.
- 29. Moore AI, Squires EL, Graham JK. Effect of seminal plasma on the cryopreservation of equine spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 2005;63(9):2372-81.
- 30. Jasko DJ, Hathaway JA, Schaltenbrand VL, Simper WD, Squires EL. Effect of seminal plasma and egg yolk on motion characteristics of cooled stallion spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 1992;37(6):1241-52.
- 31. Alghamdi AS, Foster DN, Troedsson MH. Equine seminal plasma reduces sperm binding to polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs) and improves the fertility of fresh semen inseminated into inflamed uteri. Reproduction. 2004;127(5):593-600.
- 32. Ball BA, Vo AT, Baumber J. Generation of reactive oxygen species by equine spermatozoa. American Journal of Veterinary Research. 2001;62(4):508-15.
- 33. Aitken RJ, Gibb Z, Mitchell LA, Lambourne SR, Connaughton HS, De Iuliis GN. Sperm motility is lost in vitro as a consequence of mitochondrial free radical production and the generation of electrophilic aldehydes but can be significantly rescued by the presence of nucleophilic thiols. Biol Reprod. 2012;87(5):110.
- 34. Aitken JB, Naumovski N, Curry BJ, Grupen CG, Gibb Z, Aitken RJ. Characterization of an L-Amino Acid Oxidase in Equine Spermatozoa1. Biology of Reproduction. 2015;92(5).
- 35. Aitken RJ, Gordon E, Harkiss D, Twigg JP, Milne P, Jennings Z, et al. Relative Impact of Oxidative Stress on the Functional Competence and Genomic Integrity of Human Spermatozoa1. Biology of Reproduction. 1998;59(5):1037-46.
- Amann RP, Waberski D. Computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA): Capabilities and potential developments. Theriogenology. 2014;81:5-17.
- Appel TR, Pötzsch B, Müller J, von Lindern JJ, Bergé SJ, Reich RH. Comparison of three different preparations of platelet concentrates for growth factor enrichment. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2002;13(5):522-8.
- 38. Laskaj R, Dodig S, Cepelak I, Kuzman I. Superoxide dismutase, copper and zinc concentrations in platelet-rich plasma of pneumonia patients. Ann Clin Biochem. 2009;46(Pt 2):123-8.
- 39. Castillo TN, Pouliot MA, Kim HJ, Dragoo JL. Comparison of growth factor and platelet concentration from commercial platelet-rich plasma separation systems. Am J Sports Med. 2011;39(2):266-71.

- 40. Magalon J, Bausset O, Serratrice N, Giraudo L, Aboudou H, Veran J, et al. Characterization and comparison of 5 platelet-rich plasma preparations in a single-donor model. Arthroscopy. 2014;30(5):629-38.
- 41. Frautschi RS, Hashem AM, Halasa B, Cakmakoglu C, Zins JE. Current Evidence for Clinical Efficacy of Platelet Rich Plasma in Aesthetic Surgery: A Systematic Review. Aesthet Surg J. 2017;37(3):353-62.
- 42. Javadpour F, Jeje A. Modeling Filtration of Platelet-Rich Plasma in Fibrous Filters. Transport in Porous Media. 2011;91(2):677-96.
- 43. Textor JA, Tablin F. Activation of equine platelet-rich plasma: comparison of methods and characterization of equine autologous thrombin. Vet Surg. 2012;41(7):784-94.
- 44. Wasterlain AS, Braun HJ, Dragoo JL. Contents and Formulations of Platelet-Rich Plasma. Operative Techniques in Orthopaedics. 2012;22(1):33-42.
- 45. Giraldo C, Lopez C, alvarez ME, Samudio IJ, Prades M, Carmona JU. Effects of the breed, sex and age on cellular content and growth factor release from equine pure-platelet rich plasma and pure-platelet rich gel. BMC Vet Res. 2013;9:29:1-10.
- 46. Molloy T, Wang Y, Murrell GAC. The Roles of Growth Factors in Tendon and Ligament Healing. Sports Medicine. 2003;33:381-94.
- 47. Sánchez AR, Sheridan PJ, Kupp LI. Is platelet-rich plasma the perfect enhancement factor? A current review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2003;18(1):93-103.
- 48. Del Bue M, Ricco S, Conti V, Merli E, Ramoni R, Grolli S. Platelet lysate promotes in vitro proliferation of equine mesenchymal stem cells and tenocytes. Vet Res Commun. 2007;31 Suppl 1:289-92.
- 49. Eppley BL, Woodell JE, Higgins J. Platelet quantification and growth factor analysis from platelet-rich plasma: implications for wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2004;114(6):1502-8.
- 50. Perez-Ilzarbe M, Diez-Campelo M, Aranda P, Tabera S, Lopez T, del Canizo C, et al. Comparison of ex vivo expansion culture conditions of mesenchymal stem cells for human cell therapy. Transfusion. 2009;49(9):1901-10.
- 51. Schallmoser K, Bartmann C, Rohde E, Reinisch A, Kashofer K, Stadelmeyer E, et al. Human platelet lysate can replace fetal bovine serum for clinical-scale expansion of functional mesenchymal stromal cells. Transfusion. 2007;47(8):1436-46.
- 52. Altaie A, Owston H, Jones E. Use of platelet lysate for bone regeneration are we ready for clinical translation? World J Stem Cells. 2016;8(2):47-55.
- 53. Santo VE, Popa EG, Mano JF, Gomes ME, Reis RL. Natural assembly of platelet lysate-loaded nanocarriers into enriched 3D hydrogels for cartilage regeneration. Acta Biomaterialia. 2015;19:56-65.
- 54. Moreira Teixeira LS, Leijten JC, Wennink JW, Chatterjea AG, Feijen J, van Blitterswijk CA, et al. The effect of platelet lysate supplementation of a dextran-based hydrogel on cartilage formation. Biomaterials. 2012;33(14):3651-61.

- 55. Klatte-Schulz F, Schmidt T, Uckert M, Scheffler S, Kalus U, Rojewski M, et al. Comparative Analysis of Different Platelet Lysates and Platelet Rich Preparations to Stimulate Tendon Cell Biology: An In Vitro Study. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(1).
- 56. Pereira RC, Scaranari M, Benelli R, Strada P, Reis RL, Cancedda R, et al. Dual effect of platelet lysate on human articular cartilage: a maintenance of chondrogenic potential and a transient proinflammatory activity followed by an inflammation resolution. Tissue Eng Part A. 2013;19(11-12):1476-88.
- 57. Nguyen VT, Cancedda R, Descalzi F. Platelet lysate activates quiescent cell proliferation and reprogramming in human articular cartilage: Involvement of hypoxia inducible factor 1. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2018;12(3):e1691-e703.
- 58. Altaie A, Baboolal TG, Wall O, Jones E, McGonagle D. Platelet lysate enhances synovial fluid multipotential stromal cells functions: Implications for therapeutic use. Cytotherapy. 2018;20(3):375-84.
- 59. Hildner F, Eder MJ, Hofer K, Aberl J, Redl H, van Griensven M, et al. Human platelet lysate successfully promotes proliferation and subsequent chondrogenic differentiation of adiposederived stem cells: a comparison with articular chondrocytes. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;9(7):808-18.
- 60. Astori G, Amati E, Bambi F, Bernardi M, Chieregato K, Schafer R, et al. Platelet lysate as a substitute for animal serum for the ex-vivo expansion of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: present and future. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2016;7(1):93.
- Naskou MC, Norton NA, Copland IB, Galipeau J, Peroni JF. Innate immune responses of equine monocytes cultured in equine platelet lysate. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2018;195:65-71.
- 62. Seo JP, Tsuzuki N, Haneda S, Yamada K, Furuoka H, Tabata Y, et al. Comparison of allogeneic platelet lysate and fetal bovine serum for in vitro expansion of equine bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Res Vet Sci. 2013;95(2):693-8.
- 63. Copland IB, Garcia MA, Waller EK, Roback JD, Galipeau J. The effect of platelet lysate fibrinogen on the functionality of MSCs in immunotherapy. Biomaterials. 2013;34(32):7840-50.
- 64. Wang TJ, Chen MS, Chou ML, Lin HC, Seghatchian J, Burnouf T. Comparison of three human platelet lysates used as supplements for in vitro expansion of corneal endothelium cells. Transfus Apher Sci. 2017;56(5):769-73.
- 65. Tyrnenopoulou P, Diakakis N, Karayannopoulou M, Savvas I, Koliakos G. Evaluation of intraarticular injection of autologous platelet lysate (PL) in horses with osteoarthritis of the distal interphalangeal joint. Vet Q. 2016;36(2):56-62.
- 66. Sondergaard RH, Follin B, Lund LD, Juhl M, Ekblond A, Kastrup J, et al. Senescence and quiescence in adipose-derived stromal cells: Effects of human platelet lysate, fetal bovine serum and hypoxia. Cytotherapy. 2017;19(1):95-106.
- 67. Ploderl K, Strasser C, Hennerbichler S, Peterbauer-Scherb A, Gabriel C. Development and validation of a production process of platelet lysate for autologous use. Platelets. 2011;22(3):204-9.

- 68. Pereira R, De La Corte FD, Brass KE, da Silva Azevedo M, Gallio M, Cantarelli C, et al. Evaluation of Three Methods of Platelet-Rich Plasma for Treatment of Equine Distal Limb Skin Wounds. J Equine Vet Sci. 2019;72:1-7.
- 69. Carmona JU, Argüelles D, Climent F, Prades M. Autologous Platelet Concentrates as a Treatment of Horses with Osteoarthritis: A Preliminary Pilot Clinical Study. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science. 2007;27(4):167-70.
- Argüelles D, Carmona JU, Climent F, Muñoz E, Prades M. Autologous platelet concentrates as a treatment for musculoskeletal lesions in five horses. The Veterinary Record. 2008;162:208-11.
- 71. Georg R, Maria C, Gisela A, Bianca C. Autologous conditioned plasma as therapy of tendon and ligament lesions in seven horses. J Vet Sci. 2010;11(2):173-5.
- Pascoe DR. Effect of Adding Autologous Plasma to an Intrauterine Antibiotic Therapy after Breeding on Pregnancy Rates in Mares1. Biology of Reproduction Monographies. 1995;1:539-43.
- 73. Kim HJ, Yeom JS, Koh YG, Yeo JE, Kang KT, Kang YM, et al. Anti-inflammatory effect of platelet-rich plasma on nucleus pulposus cells with response of TNF-alpha and IL-1. J Orthop Res. 2014;32(4):551-6.
- 74. Sundman EA, Cole BJ, Karas V, Della Valle C, Tetreault MW, Mohammed HO, et al. The antiinflammatory and matrix restorative mechanisms of platelet-rich plasma in osteoarthritis. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(1):35-41.
- 75. Woodell-May J, Matuska A, Oyster M, Welch Z, O'Shaughnessey K, Hoeppner J. Autologous protein solution inhibits MMP-13 production by IL-1beta and TNFalpha-stimulated human articular chondrocytes. J Orthop Res. 2011;29(9):1320-6.
- Cieslik-Bielecka A, Bielecki T, Gazdzik TS, Arendt J, Krol W, Szczepanski T. Autologous platelets and leukocytes can improve healing of infected high-energy soft tissue injury. Transfus Apher Sci. 2009;41(1):9-12.
- Trowbridge CC, Stammers AH, Woods E, Yen BR, Klayman M, Gilbert C. Use of Platelet Gel and Its Effects on Infection in Cardiac Surgery. The Journal of The American Society of Extra-Corporeal Technology. 2005;37:381-6.
- 78. Yuan T, Zhang C, Zeng B. Treatment of chronic femoral osteomyelitis with platelet-rich plasma (PRP): a case report. Transfus Apher Sci. 2008;38(2):167-73.
- 79. Anitua E, Alonso R, Girbau C, Aguirre JJ, Muruzabal F, Orive G. Antibacterial effect of plasma rich in growth factors (PRGF(R)-Endoret(R)) against Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis strains. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2012;37(6):652-7.
- 80. Álvarez ME, López C, Giraldo CE, Samudio I, Carmona JU. In vitro bactericidal activity of equine platelet concentrates, platelet poor plasma, and plasma against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Archives of Veterinary Medicine. 2011;43:155-61.
- 81. Bielecki TM, Gazdzik TS, Arendt J, Szczepanski T, Król W, Wielkoszynski T. Antibacterial effect of autologous platelet gel enriched with growth factors and other active substances. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. 2007;89:417-20.

- 82. Burnouf T, Chou ML, Wu YW, Su CY, Lee LW. Antimicrobial activity of platelet (PLT)-poor plasma, PLT-rich plasma, PLT gel, and solvent/detergent-treated PLT lysate biomaterials against wound bacteria. Transfusion. 2013;53(1):138-46.
- 83. Moojen DJ, Everts PA, Schure RM, Overdevest EP, van Zundert A, Knape JT, et al. Antimicrobial activity of platelet-leukocyte gel against Staphylococcus aureus. J Orthop Res. 2008;26(3):404-10.
- 84. Canisso IF, Stewart J, Coutinho da Silva MA. Endometritis: Managing Persistent Post-Breeding Endometritis. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. 2016;32(3):465-80.
- 85. Gilbertie JM, Schaer TP, Schubert AG, Jacob ME, Menegatti S, Ashton Lavoie R, et al. Plateletrich plasma lysate displays antibiofilm properties and restores antimicrobial activity against synovial fluid biofilms in vitro. J Orthop Res. 2020;38(6):1365-74.
- 86. Bader R, Ibrahim JN, Moussa M, Mourad A, Azoury J, Azoury J, et al. In vitro effect of autologous platelet-rich plasma on H2 O2 -induced oxidative stress in human spermatozoa. Andrology. 2020;8(1):191-200.
- 87. Traub-Dargatz JL, Salman MD, Voss JL. Medical problems of adult horses, as ranked by equine practitioners. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 1991;198(10):1745-7.
- 88. Troedsson MHT. Uterine clearance and resistance to persistent endometritis in the mare. Theriogenology. 1997;52:461-71.
- 89. Troedsson MHT, Liu IKM, Crabo BG. Sperm transport and survival in the mare. Theriogenology. 1998;49:905-15.
- 90. LeBlanc MM, Neywirth L, Asbury AC, Tran T, Mauragis D, Klapstein E. Scintigraphic measurement of uterine clearance in normal mares and mares with recurrent endometritis. Equine Veteterinary Journal. 1994;26:109-13.
- 91. Troedsson MHT, Desvousges A, Macpherson ML, Pozor MP. Persistent breeding-induced endometritis. Pferdeheilkunde 2008;24:56-60.
- 92. Zent WW, Troedsson MHT, Xue J. Postbreeding Uterine Fluid Accumulation in a Normal Population of Thoroughbred Mares: A Field Study. Proceedings of the Annual Convention of the AAEP. 1998;44:64-5.
- 93. Bucca S, Carli A, Buckley T, Dolci G, Fogarty U. The use of dexamethasone administered to mares at breeding time in the modulation of persistent mating induced endometritis. Theriogenology. 2008;70(7):1093-100.
- 94. Woodward EM, Christoffersen M, Campos J, Betancourt A, Horohov D, Scoggin KE, et al. Endometrial inflammatory markers of the early immune response in mares susceptible or resistant to persistent breeding-induced endometritis. Reproduction. 2013;145(3):289-96.
- 95. Scoggin CF. Not just a number: effect of age on fertility, pregnancy and offspring vigour in thoroughbred brood-mares. Reprod Fertil Dev. 2015;27(6):872-9.
- 96. Nielsen JM. Endometritis in the mare: a diagnostic study comparing cultures from swab and biopsy. Theriogenology. 2005;64(3):510-8.
- 97. Scoggin CF. Endometritis: Nontraditional Therapies. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. 2016;32(3):499-511.

- 98. Trotter GW, McKinnon AO. Surgery for Abnormal Vulvar and Perineal Conformation in the Mare. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice. 1988;4(3):389-405.
- 99. Fumuso E, Giguère S, Wade J, Rogan D, Videla-Dorna I, Bowden RA. Endometrial IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α, mRNA expression in mares resistant or susceptible to post-breeding endometritis. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology. 2003;96(1-2):31-41.
- 100. Fumuso EA, Aguilar J, Giguere S, Rivulgo M, Wade J, Rogan D. Immune parameters in mares resistant and susceptible to persistent post-breeding endometritis: effects of immunomodulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2007;118(1-2):30-9.
- 101. Christoffersen M, Woodward EM, Bojesen AM, Petersen MR, Squires EL, Lehn-Jensen H, et al. Effect of immunomodulatory therapy on the endometrial inflammatory response to induced infectious endometritis in susceptible mares. Theriogenology. 2012;78(5):991-1004.
- 102. Christoffersen M, Soderlind M, Rudefalk SR, Pedersen HG, Allen J, Krekeler N. Risk factors associated with uterine fluid after breeding caused by Streptococcus zooepidemicus. Theriogenology. 2015;84(8):1283-90.
- 103.Canisso IF, Segabinazzi L, Fedorka CE. Persistent Breeding-Induced Endometritis in Mares a Multifaceted Challenge: From Clinical Aspects to Immunopathogenesis and Pathobiology. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(4).
- 104.Seidah NJ, Manjunath P, Rochemont J, Sairam MR, Chretient M. Complete amino acid sequence of BSP-A3 from bovine seminal plasma. Biochemistry Journal. 1987;243:195-203.
- 105.Rutherfurd KJ, Swiderek KM, Green CB, Chen PS, Shively JE, Kwokt SCM. Purification and Characterization of PSP-I and PSP-II, Two Major Proteins from Porcine Seminal Plasma'. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 1992;295:352-9.
- 106.Sanz L, Calvete JJ, Mann K, Schafer W, Schmid ER, Amselgruber W, et al. The complete primary structure of the spermadhesin AWN, a zona pellucida-binding protein isolated from boar spermatozoa. Federation of European Biochemical Society. 1992;300.
- 107.Sanz L, Calvete JJ, Mann K, Gabius H, Topfer-Petersen AE. Isolation and Biochemical Characterization of Heparin-Binding Proteins From Boar Seminal Plasma: A Dual Role for Spermadhesins in Fertilization. MOLECULAR REPRODUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT. 1993;35:37-43.
- 108. Calvete JJ, Mann K, Schafer W, Sanz L, Reinert M, Nessau S, et al. Amino acid sequence of HSP-1, a major protein of stallion seminal plasma: effect of glycosylation on its heparin- and gelatin-binding capabilities. Biochemistry Journal. 1995;310:615-22.
- 109. Topfer-Petersen E, Romero A, Varela PF, Ekhlasi-Hundrieser M, Dostalova Z, Sanz L, et al. Spermadhesins: A new protein family. Facts, hypotheses and perspectives. Andrologia. 1998;30:217-24.
- 110.Lenz RW, Bellin ME, ., Ax RL. Rabbit Spermatozoa Undergo an Acrosome Reaction in the Presence of Glycosaminoglycans. Gamete Research 1983;8.
- 111.Parrish JJ, Susko-Parrish J, Winer MA, First NL. Capacitation of bovine sperm by heparin. Biology of Reproduction. 1988;38:1171-80.

- 112.Parrish JJ, Parrish JLS, First NL. Effect of heparin and chondroitin sulfate on the acrosome reaction and fertility of bovine sperm in vitro. Theriogenology. 1985;24:537-49.
- 113. Whitfield CH, Parkinson TJ. Relationship between fertility of bovine semen and *in vitro* induction of acrosome reactions by heparin. Theriogenology. 1992;38:11-20.
- 114.Lee CN, K CM, Bushmeyer SW, First NL, Ax RL. Glycosaminoglycans in ewe reproductive tracts and their influence on acrosome reactions in bovine spermatozoa in vitro. Journal of Animal Science. 1986;63:861-7.
- 115.McNutt TL, Killian GJ. Influence of bovine follicular and oviduct fluids on sperm capacitation *in vitro*. Journal of Andrology. 1991;12:244-52.
- 116. Merkies K, Buhr MM. Epididymal maturation affects calcium regulation in equine spermatozoa exposed to heparin and glucose. Theriogenology. 1997;49:683-95.
- 117.Lee CN, Ax AL. Concentrations and Composition of Glycosaminoglycans in the Female Bovine Reproductive Tract. Journal of Dairy Science. 1984;67:2006-9.
- 118.Dobrinski I, Suarez SS, Ball BA. Intracellular Calcium Concentration in Equine Spermatozoa Attached to Oviductal Epithelial Cells In Vitro. Biology of Reproduction. 1996;54 783-8.
- 119.Parrish JJ, Susko-Parrish J, Handrow RR, Sims PJ, First NL. Capacitation of sperm by oviduct fluid. Biology of Reproduction. 1989;40:1020-5.
- 120. Mann T. Biochemistry of stallion semen. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 1975:47-52.
- 121.Iritani A, Kasai M, Niwa K, Song HB. Fertilization in vitro of cattle follicular oocytes with ejaculated spermatozoa capacitated in a defined medium. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 1984;70:487-92.
- 122. Christensen P, Whitfield CH, Parkinson TJ. In vitro induction of acrosome reactions in stallion spermatozoa by heparin and A23187. Theriogenology. 1995;45:1201-10.
- 123.Farlin ME, Jasko DJ, Graham JK, Squires EL. Heparin-induced capacitation: A comparison between the bull and stallion. Equine Veterinary Journal. 1993:49-52.
- 124. Varner DD, Bowen JA, Johnson L. Effect of heparin on capacitation/acrosome reaction of equine sperm. Arch Androl. 1993;31(3):199-207.
- 125.Zhang JJ, Muzs LZ, Boyle MS. In Vitro Fertilization of Horse Follicular Oocytes Matured In Vitro. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 1990;26:361-5.
- 126.Blue BJ, Mckinnon AO, Squires EL, Seidel GE, Muscari KT. Capacitation of stallion spermatozoa and fertilisation of equine oocytes in vitro. Equine Veterinary Journal. 1989:111-6.
- 127.Fukui Y, Sonoyama T, Mochizuki H, Ono H. Effects of heparin dosage and sperm capacitation time on in vitro fertilization and cleavage of bovine oocytes matired in vitro. Theriogenology. 1990;34:579-91.
- 128.Lee CN, Handrow RR, Lenz RW, Ax RL. Interactions of Seminal Plasma and Glycosaminoglycans on Acrosome Reactions in Bovine Spermatozoa In Vitro. Gamete Research. 1985;12.

- 129.Cotton LM, O'Bryan MK, Hinton BT. Cellular signaling by fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) and their receptors (FGFRs) in male reproduction. Endocr Rev. 2008;29(2):193-216.
- 130.Jiang X, Skibba M, Zhang C, Tan Y, Xin Y, Qu Y. The roles of fibroblast growth factors in the testicular development and tumor. J Diabetes Res. 2013;2013:489095.
- 131.Sugihara K, Shibata TK, Takata K, Kimura T, Kanayama N, Williams R, et al. Attenuation of fibroblast growth factor signaling by poly-N-acetyllactosamine type glycans. FEBS Lett. 2013;587(19):3195-201.
- 132.Gabler C, Lauer B, Einspanier A, Schams D, Einspanier R. Detection of mRNA and immunoreactive proteins for acidic and basic fibroblast growth factor and expression of the fibroblast growth factor receptors in the bovine oviduct. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 1997;109:213-21.
- 133.Chaves RN, de Matos MH, Buratini J, Jr., de Figueiredo JR. The fibroblast growth factor family: involvement in the regulation of folliculogenesis. Reprod Fertil Dev. 2012;24(7):905-15.
- 134.Price CA. Mechanisms of fibroblast growth factor signaling in the ovarian follicle. J Endocrinol. 2016;228(2):R31-43.
- 135.Kanodia J, Chai D, Vollmer J, Kim J, Raue A, Finn G, et al. Deciphering the mechanism behind Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) induced biphasic signal-response profiles. Cell Communication and Signaling. 2014;12:1-18.
- 136.Spalekova E, Makarevich AV, Lukac N. Ram Sperm Motility Parameters under The Influence of Epidermal Growth Factor. Vet Med Int. 2011;2011:642931.
- 137. Makarevich AV, Kubovicova AV, Sirotkin E, Pivko J. Demonstration of the effect of epidermal growth factor on ram sperm parameters using two fluorescent assays. Veterinarni Medicina. 2010;55:581–9.
- 138. Iyibozkurt AC, Balcik P, Bulgurcuoglu S, Kardas B, Arslan B, kset Attar R, et al. Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on sperm motility and survival. Reproductive BioMedicine Online. 2009;19:784–8.
- 139.Tohidnezhad M, Wruck CJ, Slowik A, Kweider N, Beckmann R, Bayer A, et al. Role of platelet-released growth factors in detoxification of reactive oxygen species in osteoblasts. Bone. 2014;65:9-17.
- 140.Lackey BR, Boone WR, Gray SL, Henricks DM. Computer-assisted sperm motion analysis of bovine sperm treated with insulin-like growth factor I and II: implications as motility regulators and chemokinetic factors. Arch Androl. 1998;41(2):115-25.
- 141.Sharkey DJ, Tremellen KP, Briggs NE, Dekker GA, Robertson SA. Seminal plasma transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , activin A and follistatin fluctuate within men over time. Human Reproduction. 2016;31(10):2183-91.
- 142.Zhao J, Dong X, Hu X, Long Z, Wang L, Liu Q, et al. Zinc levels in seminal plasma and their correlation with male infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2016;6:22386.
- 143.Perumal P. Effect of Superoxide Dismutase on Semen Parameters and Antioxidant Enzyme Activities of Liquid Stored (5°C) Mithun (<i>Bos frontalis</i>) Semen. Journal of Animals. 2014;2014:821954.
- 144.Lee HS, Park YS, Lee JS, Seo JT. Serum and seminal plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 in male infertility. Clin Exp Reprod Med. 2016;43(2):97-101.
- 145.Basciani S, Mariani S, Arizzi M, Ulisse S, Rucci N, Jannini EA, et al., editors. Expression of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor-A (PDGF-A), PDGF-B, and PDGF Receptor0± and 0<sup>2</sup> during Human Testicular Development and Disease2002.
- 146.Hemeda H, Kalz J, Walenda G, Lohmann M, Wagner W. Heparin concentration is critical for cell culture with human platelet lysate. Cytotherapy. 2013;15(9):1174-81.
- 147.Nascimento J, Raphael CF, Andrade AFC, Alonso MA, Celeghini ECC, Arruda RP. Effects of Sperm Concentration and Straw Volume on Motion Characteristics and Plasma, Acrosomal, and Mitochondrial Membranes of Equine Cryopreserved Spermatozoa. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science. 2008;28(6):351-8.
- 148.Brown DV, Senger PL. Influence of homologous blood serum and motility and head-to-head agglutination in nonmotile ejaculated bovine spermatozoa. Biol Reprod. 1980;23:271-5.
- 149.Boatman DE, Bavister BD. Stimulation of rhesus monkey sperm capacitation by cyclic nucleotide mediators. J Reprod Fertil. 1984;71:357-66.
- 150.Ehrenwald E, Foote RH, Parks JE. Bovine Oviductal Fluid Components and Their Potential Role in Sperm Cholesterol Efflux. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 1990;25:195-204.
- 151.Lefebvre R, Suarez SS. Effect of Capacitation on Bull Sperm Binding to Homologous Oviductal Epithelium. Biology of Reproduction. 1996;54:575-82.
- 152. Funahashi H, Day BN. Effects of follicular fluid at fertilization in vitro on sperm penetration in pig oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 1993;99:97-103.
- 153.Brown DV, Senger PL. Influence of incubation in utero on motility and head-to-head agglutination of ejaculated rabbit spermatozoa. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 1982;66:283-9.
- 154.Leahy T, Rickard JP, Aitken RJ, de Graaf SP. Penicillamine prevents ram sperm agglutination in media that support capacitation. Reproduction. 2016;151(2):167-77.
- 155.Pouliot Y, Gauthier S. Milk growth factors as health products: Some technological aspects. International Dairy Journal - INT DAIRY J. 2006;16:1415-20.
- 156. Wassarman PM. Mammalian Fertilization: Molecular Aspects of Gamete Adhesion, Exocytosis, and Fusion. Cell. 1999;96:175-83.
- 157.Wassarman PM, Jovine L, Litscher ES. A profile of fertilization in mammals. Nature Cell Biology. 2001;3:E59-E64.
- 158.Eisenbach M, Giojalas LC. Sperm guidance in mammals an unpaved road to the egg. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2006;7(4):276-85.

- 159. Vazquez-Levin MH, Marín-Briggiler CI. An overview of the molecular mechanisms involved in human fertilization. In: Niederberger CS, Lipshultz LI, Howards SS, editors. Infertility in the Male. 4 ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2009. p. 104-21.
- 160.Risopatron J, Pena P, Miska W, Sanchez R. Evaluation of the acrosome reaction in human spermatozoa: comparison of cytochemical and fluorescence techniques. Andrologia. 2001;33:63-7.
- 161.de Andrade AFC, Arruda RP, Torres MA, Pieri NCG, Leite TG, Celeghini ECC, et al. Nitric oxide in frozen-thawed equine sperm: Effects on motility, membrane integrity and sperm capacitation. Anim Reprod Sci. 2018;195:176-84.